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UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
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ver sus

MARTI N GERARDO PEREZ- TORRES,
a/k/a Martin Geral do Perez,

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court for the
Western District of Texas

( February 18, 1994 )

Bef ore GARWOOD, SM TH and DEMOSS, Circuit Judges.
GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

Def endant - appel l ant Martin Gerardo Perez-Torres (Perez) was
convicted of reentering the United States after deportation, in
violation of 8 U S.C. 8 1326. Perez was sentenced to a 5-year term
of inprisonnent. The district court enhanced Perez's sentence
because prior to his deportation he had been convicted of an
aggravat ed fel ony. Perez appeals the district court's sentence
because at the tine of his deportation, he was infornmed by the
| mMm gration and Naturalization Service (INS) that the maxinum

sentence he could receive for reentry was 2 years. Because we find



that Perez had fair warning that his conduct was a fel ony, and that
section 1326 clearly defined the penalties associated with its
violation, we affirmthe district court's sentencing deci sion.
Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow

On Novenber 15, 1989, Perez was convicted in the United States
District Court for the Wstern District of Texas of using an
interstate communication facility to facilitate a felony drug
transaction in violation of 21 U S.C. 8 843(b), and sentenced to a
term of inprisonnment of 36 nonths followed by a 1-year term of
supervi sed release. On May 30, 1992, Perez, a Mexican national,
was deported to Mexico and was advised by INS personnel that
reentry into the United States was a felony under 8 U . S.C. § 1326,
puni shabl e by a termof inprisonnent of not nore than 2 years; this
sane information was provided to Perez in the printed portion of
INS Form [-294 (Form [-294), which he signed prior to being
deported.! At the tinme of Perez's deportation, however, section
1326(b)(2) provided for an enhanced sentence of up to fifteen
years' inprisonnment for unlawful reentry by an alien previously

convi cted of an aggravated felony.2 Section 1326 had been anended

. This portion of the formstates: "By law (Title 8 of United
States Code, Section 1326) any deported person who returns

W thout permssion is guilty of a felony. |f convicted he may be
puni shed by inprisonnment of not nore than two years and/or a fine
of not nmore than $1,000.00." The formalso contains the printed
notation: "Forml-294 (Rev. 3-29-78)N."

2 Section 1326 states in relevant part:

"(a) Subject to subsection (b) of this section, any
al i en whosQ
(1) has been arrested and deported or excluded
and deported, and thereafter
(2) enters, attenpts to enter, or is at any tine
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i n Novenber of 1988 to increase the maxi mum puni shnent for reentry
fromtw to fifteen years, but the version of Forml-294 that was
provided to Perez at the tinme of his deportation had not been
revised since March of 1978, and contai ned a nessage based on the
pre-1988 section 1326, advising deportees that the maximm
aut hori zed sentence was two years.

On January 7, 1993, police officers arrested Perez at a notel
in Austin, Texas, and charged hi mw th possessi on of mari huana. At
the time of his arrest, Perez was in the United States unlawfully,
having reentered wthout obtaining consent from the Attorney
Ceneral for adm ssion after deportation.

On January 19, 1993, a federal grand jury returned a one-count

indictnment charging Perez with illegal reentry into the United

found in, the United States, unless (A) prior to
hi s reenbarkation at a place outside the United
States or his application for adm ssion from
foreign contiguous territory, the Attorney Ceneral
has expressly consented to such alien's reapplying
for adm ssion; or (B) with respect to an alien
previ ously excluded and deported, unless such
alien shall establish that he was not required to
obt ai n such advance consent under this chapter or
any prior Act,

shal |l be fined under Title 18, or inprisoned not nore
than 2 years, or both

(b) Notw t hstandi ng subsection (a) of this section,
in the case of any alien described in such subsectionsQ
(1) whose deportation was subsequent to a
conviction for conmm ssion of a felony (other than
an aggravated felony), such alien shall be fined
under Title 18, inprisoned not nore than 5 years,
or both; or
(2) whose deportation was subsequent to a
conviction for conmm ssion of an aggravated fel ony,
such alien shall be fined under such Title,
i npri soned not nore than 15 years, or both." 8
US C 8§ 1326(a)(b).



States after conviction and deportation for a felony drug-
trafficking offense in violation of 8 USC § 1326. The
governnent filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Enhancenent of Sentence
under 8 U.S. C. 8§ 1326(b)(2) based on Perez's prior drug trafficking
conviction.? On April 5, 1993, Perez pleaded guilty to the
i ndi ct nment.

The Presentence Report (PSR) cal cul ated a total offense |evel
of 21 and a Crimnal Hi story Category of IV, after adjustnents for
Perez's prior deportation followng a felony conviction and for
acceptance of responsibility, resulting in a guideline range of 57
to 71 nonths. Perez submtted objections to the PSR arguing that
due process |imted his maximum penalty to inprisonnment for two
years because of the information given to himby INS at the tine of
his deportation. The district court denied Perez's objection.

On June 10, 1993, the district court sentenced Perez to a term
of i nprisonnent of 60 nonths, a 3-year termof supervised rel ease,
and a mandatory $50 assessnent. The district court also revoked
Perez's term of supervised release on the drug trafficking felony
and i nposed a consecutive sentence of twelve nonths. Perez tinely
filed a notice of appeal fromthe district court's inposition of

the sixty nonth sentence.

3 In United States v. Vasquez-Overa, 999 F.2d 943 (5th Cr
1993), we held that subsection (b) of section 1326 is a sentence
enhancenent provision, rather than the statenent of a separate

of fense, and hence subsection (b) nmay be invoked even though its
prerequisites are not alleged in the indictnent, which need state
only the elenents of section 1326(a).
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Di scussi on

On appeal, Perez argues that the district court's inposition
of an enhanced sentence is fundanentally unfair because, although
the anmended section 1326(b) provides for a maxinmum fifteen-year
sentence for aliens reentering the country after being previously
convi cted of an aggravated felony, the INS incorrectly advised him
that, upon reentry into the United States, he would be subject to
only a two-year maxi mumtermof inprisonnent. Perez contends that
the statenent contained in Form |-294 anounts to an affirmative
m srepresentation by the governnent of the consequences of reentry,
and t hus sentencing himbeyond two years violates his right to due
process under the Fifth Anendnent.

W review de novo the district court's application of
constitutional standards to Perez's claim United States v. Shaw,
920 F.2d 1225, 1228 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, 111 S.C. 2038
(1991). As authority for the argunent that inposing a sentence in
excess of two years viol ates due process, Perez cites several cases
whi ch hold that a crimnal conviction nust be overturned when the
governnent had expressly advised a defendant that the conduct he
was |ater convicted of was |awful. See United States v.
Pennsyl vania |Indus. Chem Corp., 93 S . C. 1804, 1816 (1973)
(overturning conviction of corporation for violation of
envi ronnental statute because it was not allowed to prove that it
reasonably relied on current, published regul ati ons pronul gated by
the Arnmy Corps of Engineers which indicated that its conduct was
lawful); Cox v. Louisiana, 85 S.Ct. 476, 484 (1965) (overturning

conviction of denonstrator for violating statute prohibiting



pi cketing "near" a courthouse where "the highest police officials
of the city, in the presence of the Sheriff and Mayor" i nforned
denonstrators that they could gather in precise spot where they
were arrested); Raley v. Chio, 79 S. . 1257, 1266-67 (1959)
(overturning contenpt convictions based on failure to answer
|l egislative commttee's questions where chairman of commttee
expressly infornmed defendants that they could invoke privilege
against self-incrimnation; noting, inter alia, that sustaining
convi ction woul d "sancti on t he nost i ndefensible sort of entrapnent
by the State").

In all of the cases relied upon by Perez, the governnent
m sl ed the defendant about the legality of certain conduct. And,
when a defendant is not provided with "fair warning as to what
conduct the Governnent intended to nmake crimnal, . . . traditional
notions of fairness inherent in our system of crimmnal justice
prevent the Governnent from proceeding with the prosecution.”
Pennsyl vania Industrial, 93 S.Ct. at 1816-17 (enphasis added).
Unl i ke the cases cited above, however, the INS did not informPerez
that reentry into the United States was lawful. On the contrary,

Form|-294 expressly stated that reentry wi thout perm ssion was "a
felony." Thus, prior to reentering the United States Perez had
fair warning that the conduct he contenplated was a felony, and
decided to enter the United States nonethel ess.

As further support for his argunent, Perez cites a nunber of
cases holding that the punishnment authorized for violation of a

crimnal statute nust be clearly defined. See United States v.

Bat chel der, 99 S. Ct. 2198, 2203 (1979); United States v. Harris,



932 F. 2d 1529, 1536 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, 112 S.C. 270 (1991),;
Shaw, 920 F.2d at 1228. Al of the cases relied upon by Perez,
however, concern whet her the puni shnent aut horized for violation of
acrimnal statuteis clearly delineated within the statute itself.
Al t hough "vague sent enci ng provi si ons may post [sic] constitutional
questions if they do not state with sufficient clarity the
consequences of violating a given crimnal statute,” Batchel der,
99 S.Ct. at 2204, Forml-294 is not a crimnal statute. Hence, the
defect Perez conplains of lies not in the underlying statute, but
rather in a provision of a docunent with no relevant |egal force.
As Perez concedes, section 1326 clearly and unanbiguously
articulated the penalties associated wwth a reentry offense. Thus,
regardl ess of the inaccuracy of Forml-294, the statute under which
Perez was convicted provided notice adequate to satisfy the
requi renents of due process.? |Indeed, a penalty not provided for
in the statute of conviction is adequately noticed by being called
for in a separate statute. See United States v. Camacho- Dom nguez

905 F.2d 82, 84 (5th Cr. 1990).

Though Perez's argunent is cast in terns of due process, its
substance is one of estoppel. Cf. Heckler v. Community Health
Services of Crawford, 104 S . C. 2218 at 2224 & n.12 (1984).
Est oppel against the governnent is problematical at best. See
O fice of Personnel Managenent v. Richnond, 110 S. C. 2465 (1990).
"[1]t is well settled that the Governnent may not be estopped on

the sanme terns as any other litigant," and thus it necessarily

4 We note that Form|-294 references section 1326 as naki ng
unaut hori zed reentry a fel ony.



follows that if westoppel were to be available against the
governnent at all it would "at |east"” require denonstrating all the
traditional equitable prerequisites. Comunity Health Services of
Crawford, 104 S.Ct. at 2224. Those prerequisites include, in cases
such as this where estoppel is sought to be based on a
m srepresentation, a change in position in reasonable reliance on
the m srepresentation. Id. at 2223. Reliance is not reasonable if
at the tinme of acting the party seeking to invoke estoppel could
reasonably have known the truth of the matter. 1d. & n.10. Here,
the relevant tine is not wearlier than Perez's reentry, and
certainly then it would seem that reasonable opportunity for
know edge of the potential penalty was afforded by the clear and
unanbi guous terns of section 1326(hb).°%

The real crux of the matter, however, is that in our viewthe

| aw should not, and does not, regard the wllful and know ng

5 Just when Perez reentered is not shown. Al we know is that
it was sonetine after his May 30, 1992, deportation and before
June 7, 1993, when he was arrested in Austin.

We al so note that estoppel against the governnent on the
basis of "oral advice" by a governnent agent was rejected in
Community Health Services. Id., 104 S.C. at 2227. Further, the
Form1-294 reflected on its face that it was over ten years old
when Perez was deported. Moreover, had the statute been anended
after Perez was deported and before he reentered, the reentry
penalty provided at the tinme of his deportation would not have
controlled in any event. See United States v. Gonzal ez, 988 F.2d
16 (5th Gr. 1993); United States v. Leonard, 868 F.2d 1393,

1399- 1400 (5th Cir. 1989).

Finally, in this case there is no evidence whatever of any
reliance, reasonable or otherwise. Wile Perez did state that he
bel i eved the maxi num penalty was two years, he never gave any
indication that this belief had anythi ng whatever to do with his
reentry or that had he known the maxi num penalty therefor was
fifteen years he would not have reentered (nor does any other
evi dence so indicate or even suggest). H s |awer could only
argue that "that m ght have nade a difference in whet hersQm ght
have given hi msecond t houghts about com ng over here."

8



comm ssion of a felony as "reasonabl e" reliance for these purposes.
"Estoppel is an equitable doctrine.” Comunity Health Services,
104 S. . at 2223. However, "he who cones into equity nust cone

with clean hands,"” and thus "the doors of equity" are closed "to
one tainted with inequitableness or bad faith relative to the
matter in which he seeks relief, however inproper may have been the
behavi or of the" other party. Precision Instrunent Mg. Co. V.
Autonotive MM Co., 65 S.Ct. 993, 997 (1945).° This doctrine
assunes "even wider and nore significant proportions" where the
matter in issue "concerns the public interest,” for in such an
instance the denial of equitable relief "averts an injury to the
public.”™ 1d. Here the matter as to which Perez seeks relief is
his reentry into the United States, and as to this he is tainted
wth extrenme bad faith, for he knew such conduct was a felony and
nevertheless willfully and purposefully engaged in it; hence, to
avoid injury to the public, the doors of equity are closed to
Perez, however inproper the INS' s earlier advice to himconcerning
t he maxi num sentence for that felony.

The First Grcuit took a sonewhat anal ogous view of the matter

in its recent decision in United States v. Smth, 1994 W. 13836

6 See also, e.g., 28 AM JUR 2D Estoppel and Waiver 8§ 28 at 631
(estoppel "is available only in defense of a |l egal or equitable
right or claimmade in good faith and can never be asserted to
uphold crine, fraud, injustice, or wong of any character™

(footnote omtted)); id., 8 79 at 719 (". . . estoppel is for the
protection of innocent persons, and as a rule only the innocent
may invoke it. . . . [It] is available only for the protection

of clains nmade in good faith; [one] setting up an estoppel is
hi msel f bound to the exercise of good faith in the transaction
and in his reliance upon the words or conduct of the other
party." (footnotes omtted)).



(1st G r. January 28, 1994). There the alien, Smth, had been
convicted in 1989 of an aggravated felony and was deported in
Novenber 1991, at which tinme he was furnished an INS Form |-294
advising that if he reentered wi thout perm ssion he would commt a
felony punishable by not nore than two years' confinenent.
Subsequently, Smth did reenter, and was convicted and sentenced
under section 1326(b)(2) to seventy nonths' confi nenent.
Requesti ng downwar d sent ence departure, he furni shed t he sent enci ng
court an affidavit stating that he relied on Form I-294 when he
decided to return to the United States, and that had he known of
t he hi gher penalty he would face he woul d not have returned. The
district court denied dowmward departure. On Smth's appeal, the
First Crcuit assuned that the district court's denial was based on
its viewthat it was powerless to grant downward departure on such
a ground. Although it agreed with Smth that this circunstance was
not of a kind considered by the Sentencing Commssion in
formulating the guidelines, the First Circuit nevertheless held
that the district court could not properly have departed downward
on the basis urged by Smth, because "Smth inplicitly admts he
intentionally commtted a felony. The sentencing court cannot
countenance Smth's purposeful decision to engage in felonious

conduct . W agr ee.
Concl usi on
Because the INS did not m sinform Perez about the | awful ness
of reentry, and because section 1326 gave fair warning about the
consequences of reentry, the district court's inposition of a 5-

year sentence did not violate Perez's due process rights.
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Accordingly, the district court's judgnent is

AFF| RMED.
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